#### No. 46093-9-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

## Jason Hernandez,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-02943-1

The Honorable Judge Garold Johnson

## **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

## **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

## **

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. Officer testimony violated Mr. Hernandez's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by directly commenting on his post-*Miranda* exercise of that right.
- 2. The officer's testimony was a direct comment on Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his privilege against self-incrimination.

**ISSUE 1:** Officer testimony commenting on an accused person's refusal to answer questions post-*Miranda* violates due process and the privilege against self-incrimination. Here, a police witness testified that Mr. Hernandez declined to speak with officers after arrest. Did the officer's comment on Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his right to remain silent violate his rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments?

- 3. Prosecutorial misconduct denied Mr. Hernandez his right to a fair trial.
- 4. The prosecutor improperly commented on Mr. Hernandez's right to remain silent.
- 5. The prosecutor's improper comments violated Mr. Hernandez's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

**ISSUE 2:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by commenting on an accused person's post-*Miranda* exercise of his/her right to remain silent. Here, the prosecutor encouraged the jury to infer that Mr. Hernandez was guilty because he failed to speak in his defense after arrest. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Mr. Hernandez of his due process right to a fair trial and his privilege against self-incrimination?

- 6. Ineffective assistance of counsel deprived Mr. Hernandez of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 7. After the prosecutor introduced incriminating and out-of-context portions of Mr. Hernandez's statement to police, defense counsel unreasonably failed to offer the exculpatory portions to explain the context.

- 8. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to offer the exculpatory portion of Mr. Hernandez's statement under ER 601 and the common law rule of completeness.
- 9. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to assert Mr. Hernandez's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront adverse witnesses and to present a defense, which entitled the defense to cross-examine the state's witnesses regarding the exculpatory portions of Mr. Hernandez's statement.
- 10. Defense counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Hernandez.

**ISSUE 3:** An accused person is deprived of effective assistance when defense counsel provides deficient performance resulting in prejudice. Here, defense counsel unreasonably waived her client's right to present a defense and to confront adverse witnesses by failing to introduce exculpatory portions of Mr. Hernandez's statement under ER 601 and the rule of completeness. Was Mr. Hernandez denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

- 11. The court erred by giving instruction number 6.
- 12. The court's to-convict instruction for possession of a stolen vehicle violated Mr. Hernandez's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by permitting conviction absent proof of each element of the charged crime.
- 13. The trial court erred by incorporating into its "to convict" instruction the statutory definition of possession of stolen property, which does not apply to possession of a stolen vehicle.

**ISSUE 4:** The legislature has provided a broad definition of "possession of stolen property," but has elected not to apply that definition to the crime of possession of a stolen vehicle. Here, the court instructed jurors they could convict based on the broad definition, which did not apply to Mr. Hernandez's possession of a stolen vehicle charge. Did the court's instruction violate Mr. Hernandez's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by permitting the jury to convict him absent proof of each element of the charged offense?

- 14. The court violated Mr. Hernandez's Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 right to a unanimous verdict by failing to instruct the jury that it had to unanimously agree on the means by which Mr. Hernandez possessed a stolen vehicle.
- 15. Because the state did not present substantial evidence that Mr. Hernandez received or disposed of a stolen vehicle, the court's failure to provide a unanimity instruction requires reversal.
- 16. Under the law of the case, the state undertook the burden of proving each "alternative means" of committing possession of a stolen vehicle by substantial evidence.
- 17. Under the law of the case, the state failed to present sufficient evidence to support two "alternative means" of committing possession of a stolen vehicle.
- 18. Under the law of the case, the state failed to prove that Mr. Hernandez "received" or "disposed of" a stolen vehicle.

**ISSUE 5:** The state constitutional right to a unanimous verdict requires unanimity as to the means by which an offense was committed. Here, the jury was instructed regarding several means of committing possession of a stolen vehicle and the state did not present substantial evidence to support at least two of those means. Did the court violate Mr. Hernandez's right to a unanimous verdict by failing to instruct the jury that they had to unanimously agree regarding the means by which Mr. Hernandez had committed the offense?

- 19. Mr. Hernandez's conviction violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to an adequate charging document.
- 20. Mr. Hernandez's conviction violated his state constitutional right to an adequate charging document under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
- 21. The charging document failed to allege critical facts identifying the charge and allowing Mr. Hernandez to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution for a similar offense.

**ISSUE 6:** In addition to specifying the essential elements of an offense, a charging document must set forth any critical facts necessary to identify the particular crime charged. Here, the

Information included only the essential legal elements of possession of a stolen vehicle, and failed to specifically describe the vehicle Mr. Hernandez allegedly possessed. Did the omission of critical facts infringe Mr. Hernandez's right to an adequate charging document under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22?

- 22. The order imposing \$1800 in attorney fees violated Mr. Hernandez's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 23. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees in the absence of any evidence showing that Mr. Hernandez had the present or likely future ability to pay.
- 24. The court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.5 in the Judgment and Sentence.

**ISSUE 7:** A trial court may only order an offender to pay attorney fees upon finding that s/he has the present or likely future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed \$1800 in costs for court-appointed counsel without any evidence that Mr. Hernandez had the ability to pay them. Did the trial court violate Mr. Hernandez's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Jason Hernandez was at a 7-11 store in Tacoma when he was picked up by his child's mother. She was in a car driven by someone he didn't know. RP 10, 262, 318; CP 68. Soon after he got into the back seat, the car accelerated with a police car following. RP 140-41, 262.

The car raced through traffic until it eventually flipped and crashed into an unoccupied car in a parking lot. RP 141, 143-45. Mr. Hernandez, his ex-girlfriend, and the driver all climbed out of the car and ran. RP 189-90.

The police caught up to the car's three occupants and arrested them all. RP 214-17, 224-25. Officer Michel Volk immediately *Mirandized* Mr. Hernandez. RP 225. At some point, Mr. Hernandez told the officers that he was not the one who had been driving the car. RP 10. He said that the driver of the car had picked him up at 7-11 just before the accident, and that he'd been in the back seat. RP 10.

At booking, a jail nurse interviewed Mr. Hernandez to ensure he could be safely admitted to the jail. RP 232. The nurse asked how fast the car had been going, and Officer Volk estimated 60 mph. RP 233. Mr. Hernandez corrected her, saying that it had actually been between 70 and 100 mph. RP 234.

The state charged Mr. Hernandez with possession of a stolen vehicle, reckless driving, and hit and run unattended. CP 1-2. The charging language for possession of a stolen vehicle alleged that Mr. Hernandez:

> .... did unlawfully and feloniously knowingly possess a stolen motor vehicle, knowing that it had been stolen, contrary to RCW 9A.56.068 and 9A.56.140, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington. CP 1.

The defense theory at trial was that the state had failed to prove that Mr. Hernandez drove the vehicle. RP 381-402.

After a 3.5 hearing, the court ruled that Mr. Hernandez's statement about the car's speed was admissible. RP 71-74. The state moved *in limine* to exclude Mr. Hernandez's statements that he was not the driver of the car and that he had just been picked up at 7-11. RP 9-10; CP 12. Defense counsel did not object, and the court granted the motion. RP 10.

At trial, state witness Watters testified that, while he was still on the phone with his wife and before he knew that the car was stolen, he was able to look over his shoulder, through two windows, and see that Mr. Hernandez was the one driving the car. RP 161-65. He acknowledged that he did not put in his report that he saw any other people in the car. RP 165. However, when he testified, he told the jury that he'd seen the head of one other person in the car. RP 164-65. Only one other witness identified Mr. Hernandez as the car's driver. RP 211. This witness testified that the car had been occupied by four Hispanic men. RP 201.

The prosecution also called Volk. Volk testified that she read Mr. Hernandez his *Miranda* rights and that he said he did not want to talk. RP 227. Mr. Hernandez objected. RP 227. The court sustained the objection and admonished the jury that it could not make any inferences based on Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his right to silence. RP 230.

Volk testified about Mr. Hernandez's statement that the car had

been going 70-100 mph. RP 234. Defense counsel did not cross-examine

her about Mr. Hernandez's additional statements that he was not the driver

of the car and had just been picked up at 7-11. RP 236-39.

In the closing argument, the prosecutor brought up Mr.

Hernandez's apparent failure to speak in his defense:

PROSECUTOR: What we have in this case is a person who the moment he realized he was caught did everything he could to avoid taking accountability. And who even when he had a chance to say something about it, the only thing he said was a prideful boast about how fast he actually was going, because he was concerned not ... DEFENSE ATTORNEY: Your Honor, I'm sorry. I have to make an objection. THE COURT: Objection is sustained. You can continue. PROSECUTOR: *The only thing he said was* that I'm sorry, you don't know what you're talking about. We were driving -- we were going 70 to 100 miles per hour. RP 373 (emphasis added). Defense counsel asked to be heard outside the jury's presence. RP

373-74. She objected again and moved for a mistrial:

Your Honor, I think that was a huge comment on his right to remain silent, him saying that the only thing he said is that we were speeding. That leaves the jurors with an impression that he was refusing to make any statements or say anything, when, in fact, we know he did but it's been suppressed. It was self-serving. I don't know how that can be cured. I would move for a mistrial at this time. RP 374.

The court denied the motion but offered to give another curative instruction. RP 377. Mr. Hernandez's attorney expressed concern that an instruction would call more attention to the prosecutor's comments. RP 378. In the end, the court admonished the jury that the attorney's arguments are not evidence in the case. RP 380.

At the conclusion of trial, the court adopted instructions proposed by the prosecution. Plaintiff's Proposed Jury Instructions, Supp CP. The "to-convict" instruction for possession of a stolen vehicle permitted the jury to convict if they found that Mr. Hernandez "knowingly received, retained, possessed, or disposed of a stolen motor vehicle." CP 38. The court did not provide a unanimity instruction or special verdict form. CP 29-54.

The jury convicted Mr. Hernandez of all three counts. RP 414.

At sentencing, the judge did not inquire into Mr. Hernandez's ability to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs), but ordered him to pay \$1800 in fees for his court-appointed attorney.<sup>1</sup> CP 80.

This timely appeal follows. CP 97-111.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## I. MR. HERNANDEZ'S CONVICTION VIOLATED HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION AND DUE PROCESS.

A. Standard of Review.

Constitutional issues are reviewed *de novo*. *Dellen Wood Products, Inc. v. Washington State Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 179 Wn. App. 601, 626, 319 P.3d 847 (2014) *review denied,* 180 Wn.2d 1023, 328 P.3d 902 (2014).

Prosecutorial misconduct in the form of a comment on the accused's exercise of his/her right to remain silent is constitutional error, requiring reversal unless the state can prove harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 757, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (*citing State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); *State v. Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d 391, 396-97, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Judgment and Sentence form does include a boilerplate finding that "the Defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay." CP 79.

Constitutional error prejudices the accused unless the prosecution establishes it was "trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the outcome of the case." *Nguyen v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn. App. 155, 159 n. 3, 317 P.3d 518 (2014).

B. The privilege against self-incrimination and the right to due process prohibit comment on an accused person's exercise of the right to remain silent at trial.

Accused persons have a constitutional privilege to remain free from self-incrimination. U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. Courts liberally construe the constitutional provisions protecting the right to silence. *State v. Knapp*, 148 Wn. App. 414, 420, 199 P.3d 505 (2009).

*Miranda* warnings carry an implicit assurance that the defendant's silence will not carry a penalty. *State v. Silva*, 119 Wn. App. 422, 429, 81 P.3d 889 (2003). Thus, telling the jury that the accused invoked his rights after *Miranda* "violates fundamental due process by undermining [that] implicit assurance." *Id.* 

A suspect's post-*Miranda* invocation of the right to remain silent is not admissible for any purpose, including impeachment. *State v. Pinson*, 44259-1-II, 2014 WL 4358461, --- Wn. App. ---, --- P.3d --- (Sept. 3, 2014) (*citing State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 (2008)). Even partial silence, post-*Miranda*, may not be used as evidence of guilt. *Pinson*, 2014 WL 4358461, --- Wn. App. ---.

An inference of guilt resting on exercise of a constitutional right "always adds weight to the prosecution's case and is always, therefore, unfairly prejudicial." *Silva*, 119 Wn. App. at 429. A reviewing court presumes that an impermissible comment on the exercise of the right to silence harmed the accused unless the state proves otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>2</sup> *State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 813, 282 P.3d 126 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1006, 297 P.3d 68 (2013) (Fuller I).

Once an improper comment on an accused person's silence has been made, "the bell is hard to unring." *State v. Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. 438, 446, 93 P.3d 212 (2004). The situation puts defense counsel in the difficult position of gambling on whether to ask for a curative instruction "—a course of action which frequently does more harm than good" – or ignoring the comment. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prosecutorial misconduct can be so flagrant and prejudicial that it requires reversal even though the court attempts to cure it with an instruction. *State v. Stith*, 71 Wn. App. 14, 22-23, 856 P.2d 415 (1993); *see also State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 749, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A curative instruction is insufficient, for example, if it tells the jury to disregard an improper argument's evidentiary value but does not admonish against considering the argument when determining guilt. *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 749.

1. Officer Volk's direct comment on Mr. Hernandez's post-*Miranda* exercise of his right to remain silent violated that right.

Officer testimony commenting on an accused person's exercise of his/her right remain silent violates the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. *Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. at 445. A direct comment – explicitly relaying to the jury that the accused chose to remain silent – is always constitutional error. *Id.* 

Here, Officer Volk directly commented on Mr. Hernandez's post-*Miranda* exercise of his right to remain silent:

> I ... advised the defendant that the was being under arrest (sic) for those charges, and then read him his *Miranda* rights again... but he stated he didn't want to talk... RP 226-27.

Defense counsel objected and the court attempted to cure the error with an instruction. RP 227, 230. But the bell had already been rung. *Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. at 446. Additionally, any curative effect of the instruction was undone by the prosecutor's later arguments about Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his right to remain silent. RP 373.

The state cannot demonstrate that this constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Fuller I*, 169 Wn. App. at 813. The state presented only minimal evidence that Mr. Hernandez had driven the car. The jury was left with the impression that Mr. Hernandez never told police that he was actually a passenger. The officer's direct comment on his exercise of his right to silence permitted the jury to draw further negative inferences from Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his constitutional rights. The state cannot overcome the presumption of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* 

Volk's direct comment on Mr. Hernandez's post-*Miranda* exercise of his right to remain silent violated his rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. *Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. at 445. Mr. Hernandez's convictions must be reversed. *Id*.

2. The prosecutor committed misconduct by commenting on Mr. Hernandez's right to remain silent.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 702-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). In considering whether prosecutorial misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks to its prejudicial nature and its cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). Misconduct prejudices the accused if there is a substantial likelihood that the jury's verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. A reviewing court considers the prosecutor's statements during closing argument in the context of the case as a whole. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wn. App. 284, 291, 183 P.3d 307 (2008) (Jones I). A prosecutor commits misconduct and violates the privilege against self-incrimination by arguing that constitutionally protected silence constitutes evidence of guilt. *Knapp*, 148 Wn. App. at 420.

Here, the prosecutor committed misconduct by twice commenting on Mr. Hernandez's "failure" to speak in his defense after his arrest. RP 373. The state's attorney continued with the improper argument even after Mr. Hernandez's first objection was sustained. RP 373. Mr. Hernandez's alleged post-*Miranda* silence was not admissible for any purpose. *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d at 217. His purported exercise of his right was not probative of any element of the charges offenses. The only possible objective of the prosecutor's argument was to encourage the jury to infer Mr. Hernandez's guilt based on his supposed exercise of his right to remain silent. The prosecutor's argument was improper.<sup>3</sup>

There is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's improper argument affected the verdict. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The state presented only slim evidence that Mr. Hernandez was the driver of the car. One of the state's police witnesses had already improperly noted Mr. Hernandez's exercise of his right to silence.<sup>4</sup> RP 227-30. The

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