#### NO. 46093-9-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

#### JASON HERNANDEZ, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Judge Garold Johnson

No. 13-1-02943-1

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By BRENT J. HYER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 33338

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

Second, the record indicates that the defendant's trial counsel believed the defendant's girlfriend, Brianna Cook, who was a passenger in the car, would testify that the defendant was not the driver. The defendant's trial counsel believed Cook would be called as a witness by either the State or defense. 1 RP 26. Cook was present at the trial as the State expressed concern that she was looking into the courtroom and possibly talking with courtroom spectators. 3 RP 115. Counsel believed Cook would testify at trial. 4 RP 263. In addition, defense believed that Cook's friend/roommate, Jeannette Rensel, would testify that Cook was picked up by a man named Leonardo Martinez Ledesma, which would support Cook's testimony that the defendant was not the driver. 4 RP 262. The record is silent on why Cook or Rensel did not testify, but the record shows counsel had a legitimate trial strategy to admit testimony that the defendant was not the driver, which was his strategy for the case.

Third, this alleged instance of ineffective assistance of counsel is the only instance that the defendant's appellate brief singles out as being potential ineffective. The defendant's trial counsel appears to have made objections, made a motion for a mistrial, interviewed witnesses, filed a witness list, proposed jury instructions, etc. Even assuming this was a mistake by trial counsel, it is a singular mistake looked at in hindsight by the defendant. This single instance does not meet the *Strickland* test, especially as discussed in *State v. Carpenter*, 52 Wn. App. 680, 763 P.2d 455 (1988), that counsel was inefficient to the point of the trial being an unfair adversarial process.

#### b. <u>No prejudice can be presumed to result from</u> <u>the decision not to try to admit defendant's</u> <u>entire statement</u>.

For a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must demonstrate prejudice. To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show that the outcome of the trial would probably have been different. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 199, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). Two witnesses

testified that the defendant was the driver. 3 RP 139, 3 RP 211. Even had the court admitted the defendant's self-serving statements that he was not the driver, the outcome of the trial would probably not have been different.

Therefore, there was no prejudice, the defendant's trial counsel was not ineffective, and the defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

4. DEFENDANT WAIVED THE ISSUE REGARDING HIS "TO CONVICT" JURY INSTRUCTION BY FAILING TO OBJECT AT TRIAL AND FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE ISSUE RISES TO MANIFEST ERROR OF CONSTITUTIONAL MAGNITUDE.

The defendant did not object to any of the jury instructions at trial. 5 RP 356. Pursuant to RAP 2.5(1), the defendant cannot raise an error for the first time on appeal unless the appellant demonstrates that the error is manifest and is truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. Kirkman* 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). To be manifest as required by RAP 2.5(a)(3), a showing of actual prejudice is required. *Id.* at 935. There must be a plausible showing by the appellant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences apparent on the record that should have been reasonably obvious to the trial court. *Id.* The Court will not assume the alleged error is of constitutional magnitude. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). To satisfy the constitutional demands of a fair trial, the jury instructions, when read as a whole, must correctly tell the jury of the applicable law, not be misleading, and permit the defendant to present his theory of the case. *Id.* at 105. Only if the defendant can demonstrate that the error is both constitutional and manifest, does the burden shift to the State to prove that the error was harmless. *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 401, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). The defendant fails to show that this error is constitutional or manifest and the Court should decline to address this issue.

If the Court does choose to address the issue, the defendant is still incorrect in his argument. The defendant argues that under the "to convict" jury instruction in this case (*see* Appendix A), he could be convicted of disposing of the vehicle without possessing it. This argument is illogical as he would necessarily have had to possess it, even if for a brief time, to dispose of it. This topic is briefed more fully below as this also relates to the alternative means of committing the crime of possession of a stolen vehicle.

The defendant does not demonstrate that the "to convict" instruction is erroneous, let alone an error rising to the level of constitutional magnitude. The instruction told the jury the applicable law, was not misleading and permitted the defendant to present his theory of the case, which was that he was not the driver. Appendix A; CP 38.

Even if the defendant could show that the error is constitutional and manifest, the error is harmless. Two witnesses identified the defendant as the driver of the stolen vehicle. 3 RP 139; 3 RP 211. The

- 23 -

record demonstrates that the defendant was in possession of the stolen vehicle, not merely that he disposed of it.

Therefore there was no error in the to-convict instruction and the defendant's conviction should be affirmed.

5. THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING ALL OF THE ALTERNATIVE MEANS IN THE "TO CONVICT" JURY INSTRUCTION.

Criminal defendants have a right to a unanimous jury verdict. Const. art. 1, § 21; *State v. Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d 888, 892-93, 72 P.3d 1083 (2003). A defendant may be convicted only when a unanimous jury concludes that the criminal act charged in the information has been committed. *State v. Stephens*, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190, 607 P.2d 304 (1980). Jury unanimity issues can arise when the State charges a defendant with committing a crime by more than one alternative means, *State v. Arndt*, 87 Wn.2d 374, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976). "An alternative means crime is one 'that provide[s] that the proscribed criminal conduct may be proved in a variety of ways." *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn.2d 763, 769, 230 P.3d 588 (2010) (*quoting State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 784 P.3d 873 (2007)). Express unanimity as to an alternate means of committing a crime is unnecessary if sufficient evidence exists to support each of the alternate means presented to the jury. *State v. Howard*, 127 Wn. App. 862, 872, 113 P.3d 511, 516 (2005). In the present case, the "to convict" instruction for the crime of possessing a stolen motor vehicle included the alternative means of "received, retained, possessed, or disposed of a stolen vehicle." Appendix A; CP 38.<sup>6</sup> As long as there is sufficient evidence to support each of these alternatives, then jury unanimity as to a particular means is unnecessary. The evidence is sufficient to show that the defendant received, retained and possessed the vehicle as the driver of the car. Officer Waters saw the defendant driving the vehicle. 3 RP 139. In addition, Kristi Sell indicated that the booking photo of the defendant was the person that looked like the driver. 3 RP 211. This is sufficient to support the means of possession. In order to be in possession of it, the defendant would have necessarily received and retained it. *See e.g.*, *State v. Lillard*, 122 Wn. App. 422, 435, 93 P.3d 969 (2004) ("Lillard could not possess the stolen property without receiving it. ... [A] juror could not reasonably conclude that Lillard retained the property without possessing or receiving it.").

With regard to the defendant disposing of the car, it is clear that after he was seen as the driver, he crashed the car and then fled the scene of the accident. The term "dispose" was not defined by the court's instructions to the jury and is not defined by statute, so the common meaning applies. The Court may look to the plain meaning of the term as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This instruction does not include the alternative means of "conceal" also at issue in *State v. Hayes*, 164 Wn. App. 459, 480, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). In addition, the instructions in *Hayes* included a definition of "dispose," which is not present in this case.

reflected in a dictionary definition. *In re Det. of Danforth*, 173 Wn.2d 59, 67, 264 P.3d 783 (2011). Webster's Third New International Dictionary defines "dispose of" as:

1 a: to place, distribute, or arrange esp. in an orderly or systematic way (as according to a pattern) ... b: to apportion or allot (as to particular purposes) freely or as one sees fit ... 2 a: to transfer into new hands or to the control of someone else (as by selling or bargaining away): relinquish, bestow ... b(1): to get rid of: throw away: discard ... (2): to treat or handle (something) with the result of finishing or finishing with ...: COMPLETE, DISPATCH ... C: DESTROY

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 654 (2002)(emphasis added.).

The defendant's crashing of and subsequent fleeing of the car constitutes sufficient evidence of him "disposing of" the car in this case. The defendant concedes this exact point in an earlier portion of his brief -"The jury could have found that Mr. Hernandez disposed of the vehicle by running from it after the accident even if did not possess it by driving it." BOA, 26.

The record supports this because Officer Lopez Sanchez saw the defendant and another male and female running northbound through an alley. 4 RP 316. Officer Lopez Sanchez noted the defendant appeared extremely exhausted and appeared injured. 4 RP 316. Officer Lopez Sanchez directed Officer Volk to detain the defendant. 3 RP 224.

Therefore the defendant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### 6. THE DEFENDANT WAIVED THE ISSUE OF THE IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS BY FAILING TO RAISE THIS ISSUE IN THE COURT BELOW.

Arguments not raised in the trial court are generally not considered on appeal. *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013); *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). The State has previously briefed the standard for raising an issue on appeal in section three above. The defendant did not object to the imposition of any of the legal financial obligations (LFOs), at sentencing and makes no showing that the issue may be raised for the first time here. The defendant now challenges the \$1,500.00<sup>7</sup> Court-Appointed Attorney Fees and Defense Costs. The Court should decline to allow the defendant to raise this issue for the first time on appeal. *Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. at 906. In addition, because there is no record to support defendant's claimed inability to pay LFOs, the defendant has not shown prejudice and the claimed error cannot be manifest. *See McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333.

Therefore, Defendant may not raise this issue here, and the trial court's imposition of LFOs should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The defendant mistakenly lists the amount as \$1800.00, but the amount is \$1,500.00 based on the total amount. There appears to be an initial that makes the 5 appear to be an 8. The defendant does not challenge any of the other amounts ordered by the trial court.

#### a. <u>Assuming defendant did not waive the issue</u> <u>of the imposition of legal financial</u> <u>obligations, that issue is not ripe for review.</u>

The time to challenge the imposition of LFOs is when the State seeks to collect the obligation. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523– 524, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009). *See also State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 310, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991) (holding that "the meaningful time to examine the defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation.").

"The party presenting an issue for review has the burden of providing an adequate record to establish such error[.]" *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 619, 290 P.3d 942 (2012); *See also* RAP 9.2(b). "If the appellant fails to meet this burden, the trial court[']s decision stands." *State v. Tracy*, 128 Wn. App. 388, 394–395, 1215 P.3d 381 (2005).

Here, there is no evidence that the State has sought collection of defendant's LFOs. The issue is thus not ripe for review.

b. Assuming the issue of the imposition of legal financial obligations was not waived and is ripe, the trial court properly imposed legal financial obligations upon defendant after he was convicted.

Courts may require defendants to pay court costs and other assessments associated with bringing the case to trial pursuant to RCW 10.01.160. However, (3) The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them...

(4) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs...

RCW 10.01.160 (emphasis added). In light of such safeguards, the judiciary is not required to provide the added protection of formal findings to support the assessment of court costs. *State v. Curry*, 62 Wn. App. 676, 680, 814 P.2d 1252, 1254 (1991). *See also State v. Eisenman*, 62 Wn. App. 640, 810 P.2d 55 (1991); *State v. Suttle*, 61 Wn. App. 703, 812 P.2d 119 (1991) (in both cases, financial obligations were upheld in the absence of formal findings of fact).

A defendant's poverty does not immunize him from punishment or the requirement to pay legal financial obligations. *State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (*quoting State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 918, 829 P.2d 166 (1992)). While a court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, every offender must make a good faith effort to satisfy these obligations by seeking employment, borrowing money, or otherwise legally acquiring resources to pay their court ordered financial obligations. *State v. Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703-704, P.3d 530 (2003). Furthermore, defendants who claim indigency must do more than plead poverty in general terms when seeking remission or modification of LFOs. *Id.* at 704. The Court reviews a trial court's determination of a defendant's resources and ability to pay under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 1120 (1991) (reasoning that the erroneous standard applies because defendant's ability to pay and financial status are essentially factual findings); *State v. Calvin*, 316 P.3d 496, 500 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013), *as amended on reconsideration* (Oct. 22, 2013). "The inquiry is whether the court's determination is supported by the record." *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App at 312, fn 27.

In the present case, the defendant's trial counsel told the court that he was able to start working, has a good work ethic and enjoys work.  $6^8$ RP 428. Prior to his sentence, the defendant was working. 6 RP 429. The defendant's trial counsel also told the court that the defendant was employable and that he was a good worker. 6 RP 431. The record shows that the defendant will likely have the future ability to work and to pay off the LFOs.

Therefore, the court's order imposing LFOs was not clearly erroneous and should be affirmed.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

The defendant has not shown his trial was prejudiced by Officer Volk's remark. Nor has the defendant shown prejudice by the prosecutor's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Verbatim Report of Proceedings Volume 6 is dated March 14, 2014.

statement in closing. The trial court properly gave curative instructions to cure any issues caused by these statements.

The defendant has not shown his trial counsel was ineffective by not moving to submit the defendant's entire statement to police under the doctrine of completeness as this was not a recorded or written statement, but merely testimony. Even if there was error, it was harmless error as two witness testified that the defendant was the driver of the stolen car in contradiction to his statement that he was not.

The defendant waived the issue regarding his jury instructions by failing to object at trial. He does not demonstrate that the issue rises to a manifest error of constitutional magnitude. Even if there was error, it was harmless error as two witness testified that the defendant was the driver of the stolen car in contradiction to his statement that he was not.

The State proved all of the alternative means of possession of a stolen vehicle by substantial evidence.

The information charging the defendant with possession of a stolen vehicle included all of the essential elements in it. A description of the stolen property is not an essential element.

The defendant failed to raise any issue with regard to legal financial obligations at trial. In addition, this issue is not ripe for review as the State has not attempted to collect on his legal financial obligations. Lastly, the trial court properly set his legal financial obligations because the defendant was gainfully employed at the time of his sentencing.

The defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

DATED: November 24, 2014.

MARK LINDQUIST Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

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